
           

SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY MEETING
CITY HALL - 425 EAST DEWEY AVENUE

COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 2ND FLOOR
7:00 P.M., MONDAY, JUNE 18, 2018

 
MEETING PROCEDURE: Comments from the public are welcome at two different times during
the course of the meeting.  A Sign in Sheet is located at the back of the room. Those wishing to
address the Municipal Authority are to sign in prior to the start of the meeting and identify the
item(s) they wish to address.   Comments concerning items scheduled on the Agenda will be heard
immediately following the presentation by staff or petitioner and Comments concerning items not
scheduled on the Agenda will only be heard under the Public Comments section. The Municipal
Authority will act on an Item after all comments have been heard.

PLEASE COME TO THE PODIUM WHEN THE CHAIRMAN CALLS YOUR NAME
 

- AGENDA -
           

1. CALL TO ORDER.   

 

2. ROLL CALL.   

 

3. MINUTES.   

 

A. Consider approving the minutes of the June 4, 2018, regular municipal authority meeting.
 

4. APPOINTMENTS, AWARDS, PRESENTATIONS, AND PROCLAMATIONS.   

 

5. CONSENT ITEMS: All matters under “Consent” are considered by the Municipal
Authority to be routine and will be enacted by one motion. Any Municipal
Authority Trustee may, however, remove an item from consent by request.

  

 

A. Consider approving Claims in the amount of $555,291.50
(Refer to:  Purchase Order Claim Register with City Agenda.) 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS.   

 

1 of 3 

  



           

7. ADMINISTRATION.   

 

A. Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the Sapulpa Municipal
Authority (The "Borrower") Approving and Authorizing a Clean Water SRF Loan from
the Oklahoma Water Resources Board in the Total Aggregate Principal Amount of
$7,850,000; Approving the Issuance of a Promissory Note in the Total Aggregate
Principal Amount of $7,850,000, Secured by a Pledge of Revenues and Authorizing its
Execution; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Loan Agreement for Clean
Water SRF Loan; Designating a Local Trustee and Approving and Authorizing the
Execution of a Trust Agreement; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Security
Agreement; Ratifying and Confirming a Lease Agreement Pertaining to Certain Water
and Sanitary Sewer Systems, Approving and Authorizing a Lease Agreement Pertaining
to the Stormwater and Sanitation Systems; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of
a Subordinate Lien Sales Tax Agreement; Approving Various Covenants; Approving and
Authorizing the Establishment of a Project Costs Disbursement Account; and Containing
Other Provisions Relating Thereto; and Approving and Authorizing Execution of all
necessary Closing Documents.

 

B. Discussion and possible action regarding Engineering Services Agreement with Tetra
Tech for operations and maintenance of the jointly owned Skiatook Raw Water
Conveyance System during Fiscal Year 2018-2019 in a shared total amount of
$340,944.00, of which the City of Sapulpa is obligated for $136,377.60.

 

C. Discussion and possible action regarding Professional Services Agreement for
Engineering Services with Tetra Tech for the Frankoma Road Sanitary Sewer Extension
Project in the amount of $468,500.00.

 

D. Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the City of Sapulpa, Oklahoma,
and the Sapulpa Municipal Trust Authority amending the FY 2017-2018 annual budget
by increasing revenues by $2,146,306.00 and increasing appropriations by $1,062,421.00
in various funds for the purpose of making adjustments based on current revenue and the
amounts estimated during the preparation of the FY 2018-2019 budget.

 

E. Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the Sapulpa Municipal
Authority, Sapulpa, Oklahoma, amending the Sewer System Development and Extension
Fee Fund FY 2017-2018 annual budget by increasing revenues and appropriations in the
amount of $7,850,000.00 to recognize loan proceeds for the purpose of constructing a
sewerline extension, making wastewater treatment plant improvements, and purchasing a
pipeline television inspection system.

 

8. NEW BUSINESS.   

 

2 of 3 

  



           

9. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS FROM CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF TRUSTEES,
TRUST MANAGER, OR TRUST ATTORNEY.

  

 

A. Status Report from Tetra Tech regarding various City and Authority projects.
 

10. PUBLIC COMMENTS: The purpose of the Public Comments Section of the
Agenda is for members of the public to speak to the Municipal Authority on any
subject not scheduled on the Regular Agenda. The Municipal Authority shall make
no decision or action, except to direct the Trust Manager to take action, or to
schedule the matter for Municipal Authority discussion at a later date. 

Please come to the podium when the Chairman calls your name and keep your
comments as brief as possible.

  

 

11. ADJOURNMENT.   

 

Posted this 15th day of June, 2018 at or before 5:00 p.m., at the Sapulpa City Hall, 425 East
Dewey Avenue, Sapulpa, Oklahoma.

Name:  Anna Jo Fife
Title:    Administrative Assistant

 

3 of 3 

  



AGENDA ITEM

   
Municipal Authority Regular 3.A.        
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted By: Shirley Burzio, City Clerk
Department: City Clerk
Presented By: 

SUBJECT:
Consider approving the minutes of the June 4, 2018, regular municipal authority meeting.

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDATION:

Attachments
minutes.06-04-2018 sma



SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY
TRUST PROCEEDINGS
Meeting of June 4, 2018

 

The Board of Trustees of the Sapulpa Municipal Trust Authority met in regular session
Monday, June 4, 2018, at 7:00 o'clock P.M. in the City Hall Council Chambers, 425 East
Dewey Avenue, Sapulpa, Oklahoma.
 

 Present:   Reg Green, Chairman
Louis Martin, Jr., Vice-Chairman
John Anderson, Trustee
Marty Cummins, Trustee
Wes Galloway, Trustee
Craig Henderson, Trustee
Alan Jones, Trustee
Hugo Naifeh, Trustee
Charles Stephens, Trustee
Carla Stinnett, Trustee

Staff Present: Joan Riley, Trust Manager; Rick Rumsey, Assistant Trust Manager; Pam
Vann, Trust Treasurer; David Widdoes, Trust Attorney; Shirley Burzio, Secretary
               

1. MINUTES, CONSENT ITEMS AND ADMINISTRATION.

Motion was made by Vice-Chairman Louis Martin, seconded by Trustee
Hugo Naifeh, to approve the following items of business:

 

A. Approve the minutes of the May 21, 2018, regular municipal authority
meeting;

  

 

B. Approve claims in the amount of $ 211,283.04;   

 

C. Approve the professional services agreement for engineering services with
Tetra Tech, Inc.,  for a hydraulic study in the area of North Watchorn Street
and East Hobson Avenue in the amount of $21,700.00;

  

 

D. Approve the adoption of an Ordinance of the City of Sapulpa, Oklahoma,
amending the Master Fee Schedule to the Sapulpa City Code, Appendix A,
Sections 17.17-202, 17.17-203, 17.17-222, and 17.17-511, by providing for
amended water, sewer, and refuse collection rates; repealing all ordinances
or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance; and providing that if any
part or parts of this ordinance are held invalid or ineffective, the remaining
portions shall not be affected; providing an effective date; and declaring an
emergency.  (Ordinance No. 2796)

  

 

E. Approve the adoption of  a Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the   

Sapulpa Municipal Authority June 4, 2018                                         Page 1 

  



E. Approve the adoption of  a Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the
Sapulpa Municipal Authority, Sapulpa, Oklahoma, adopting and appending a
budget for the Sapulpa Municipal Authority, Sapulpa, Oklahoma, for the year
beginning July 1, 2018, and ending June 30, 2019.  (Resolution No. 4530)

ROLL CALL:  AYE-John Anderson, Bruce Bledsoe, Marty Cummins, Wes
Galloway, Reg Green, Craig Henderson, Louis Martin, Hugo Naifeh, Charles
Stephens, Carla Stinnett.  NAY-None.  Motion carried 10-0. 

  

 

2. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS FROM CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF TRUSTEES,
TRUST MANAGER, OR TRUST ATTORNEY.

 

A. A project status report from Tetra Tech, Inc., regarding various city and
trust projects was presented for discussion and review only.  There was no
action taken by the board.

  

 

3. PUBLIC COMMENTS:

There were no comments made to the board.
 

4. ADJOURNMENT.

There being no further business to consider, motion was made by
Vice-Chairman Louis Martin, seconded by Trustee Hugo Naifeh, to adjourn
the meeting.  Motion carried unanimously.

 

________________________________
Chairman

Attest:

________________________________
Secretary

Sapulpa Municipal Authority June 4, 2018                                         Page 2 

  



 

   
    Consent Agenda    5.A.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted By: Amber Fisher, Accounts Payable Clerk

SUBJECT:
Consider approving Claims in the amount of $555,291.50
(Refer to:  Purchase Order Claim Register with City Agenda.) 



AGENDA ITEM

   
    Administration    7.A.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted For: Joan Riley, City Manager 
Submitted By: Amy Hoehner, Legal Assistant
Department: City Manager
Presented By: Joan Riley

SUBJECT:
Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the Sapulpa Municipal Authority (The
"Borrower") Approving and Authorizing a Clean Water SRF Loan from the Oklahoma Water
Resources Board in the Total Aggregate Principal Amount of $7,850,000; Approving the Issuance
of a Promissory Note in the Total Aggregate Principal Amount of $7,850,000, Secured by a
Pledge of Revenues and Authorizing its Execution; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a
Loan Agreement for Clean Water SRF Loan; Designating a Local Trustee and Approving and
Authorizing the Execution of a Trust Agreement; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a
Security Agreement; Ratifying and Confirming a Lease Agreement Pertaining to Certain Water
and Sanitary Sewer Systems, Approving and Authorizing a Lease Agreement Pertaining to the
Stormwater and Sanitation Systems; Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Subordinate
Lien Sales Tax Agreement; Approving Various Covenants; Approving and Authorizing the
Establishment of a Project Costs Disbursement Account; and Containing Other Provisions
Relating Thereto; and Approving and Authorizing Execution of all necessary Closing
Documents.

BACKGROUND:
Presented during June 18, 2018 Study Session.

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends Trustees approve Resolution and authorize Chairman to execute same.

Attachments
Resolution



 THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY, MET 
IN REGULAR SESSIONIN CITY HALL, IN SAPULPA, OKLAHOMA, ON THE 18TH DAY 

OF JUNE, 2018, AT 7:00 P.M. 
 

 PRESENT:  
 
 ABSENT:  

 
 Thereupon, the Chairman introduced a Resolution which was read. 

Trustee___________moved that the Resolution be adopted and Trustee __________seconded 
the motion. The motion carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution prevailed by the 
following vote: 

 
 AYE:  

 
 NAY:  
 

The Resolution as adopted is as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO._____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY (THE 

“BORROWER”) APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING A CLEAN WATER 

SRF LOAN FROM THE OKLAHOMA WATER RESOURCES BOARD IN 

THE TOTAL AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $7,850,000; 

APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF A PROMISSORY NOTE IN THE 

TOTAL AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $7,850,000, SECURED 

BY A PLEDGE OF REVENUES AND AUTHORIZING ITS EXECUTION; 

APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A LOAN 

AGREEMENT FOR CLEAN WATER SRF LOAN; DESIGNATING A 

LOCAL TRUSTEE AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION OF A TRUST AGREEMENT; APPROVING AND 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A SECURITY AGREEMENT; 

RATIFYING AND CONFIRMING A LEASE AGREEMENT 

PERTAINING TO CERTAIN WATER AND SANITARY SEWER 

SYSTEMS, APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING A LEASE AGREEMENT 

PERTAINING TO THE STORMWATER AND SANITATION SYSTEMS; 

APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 

SUBORDINATE LIEN SALES TAX AGREEMENT; APPROVING 

VARIOUS COVENANTS; APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE 

ESTABLISHMENT OF A PROJECT COSTS DISBURSEMENT 

ACCOUNT; AND CONTAINING OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING 

THERETO; AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF 

ALL NECESSARY CLOSING DOCUMENTS. 

 

 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, the Sapulpa Municipal authority, Creek County, Oklahoma (the 
“Borrower”), was organized under Title 60, Oklahoma Statutes 2011, Sections 176-180.4, as 

amended, for the purpose of furthering the public functions of the City of Sapulpa, Oklahoma 
(the “City”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower is authorized and has determined to construct improvements 
to its wastewater system, along with related costs (the “Project”), and in payment of part of the 

cost thereof, to seek money in the form of a Clean Water SRF Loan from the Oklahoma Water 
Resources Board (the “Board”) in the amount of $7,850,000.00; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower heretofore issued its (i) Utility System Revenue Bonds, 
Refunding Series 2012 dated July 2, 2012, in the aggregate principal amount of $27,675,000, and 

(ii) Utility System Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2013 dated April 23, 2013, in the aggregate 
principal amount of $43,320,000 (the “Prior Senior Lien Debt”), said Prior Senior Lien Debt 

secured on a parity lien basis by a pledge of revenue derived from the Borrower’s water, sanitary 
sewer, sanitation, and storm water systems (hereinafter collectively, the “System”), and a lien on 
the year-to-year pledge of certain sales tax revenue derived from the levy of a one and three-

tenths of one percent (1.3%) sales tax (the “Sales Tax Revenue”); and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Borrower heretofore issued its Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2014 dated July 1, 2014, in the aggregate principal amount of $7,410,000 (the “Prior 
Subordinate Lien Debt”), secured by a subordinate pledge of revenue derived from the System, 

and a lien on the year-to-year pledge of certain sales tax revenue derived from the levy of a 
separate one-half of one percent (0.5%) sales tax; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board has approved a loan application of the Borrower and the 
Borrower has determined to borrow money from the Board to accomplish the Project and to 

evidence such loan by the issuance of the Borrower’s Series 2018 Clean Water SRF Promissory 
Note to Oklahoma Water Resources Board in the original principal amount of $7,850,000 (the 

“2018 Note”), said 2018 Note being secured by a pledge of revenue derived from the System, 
and a lien on the Sales Tax Revenue; and 
 

 WHEREAS, said lien on the revenues derived from the System is subject and 
subordinate to the lien on said revenues securing the Borrower’s Prior Senior Lien Debt and the 

Borrower’s Prior Subordinate Lien Debt, and said lien on the Sales Tax Revenue is subject to the 
lien on said Sales Tax Revenue securing the Borrower’s Prior Senior Lien Debt; and 
 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Borrower to authorize the execution and delivery of 
any and all documents necessary or attendant to the issuance of the 2018 Note. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE 

SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY, CREEK COUNTY, OKLAHOMA: 

 
 Section 1.  Issuance of Note.  The Borrower is hereby authorized to accept said loan and 

issue its 2018 Note payable to the Board and secured by a pledge of revenue derived from the 
operation of the System. The officers of the Borrower are hereby authorized and directed to 



3 
 

execute said 2018 Note and to do any and all lawful things to effect said loan and secure said 
loan from the Board, provided that the principal amount of the 2018 Note shall be $7,850,000, 

and the rate of interest on the 2018 Note shall be a fixed rate of interest of two and fifty nine 
hundredth percent (2.59%) per annum inclusive of administrative fees of one half of one percent 

(1/2%). 
 
 Section 2.  Execution of Loan Agreement for Clean Water SRF Loan.  The Loan 

Agreement for Clean Water SRF Loan by and between the Borrower and the Board (the “Loan 
Agreement”) is hereby approved and the Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary or Assistant 

Secretary of the Borrower are hereby authorized to execute same for and on behalf of the 
Borrower, and to do all other lawful things to carry out the terms and conditions of said Loan 
Agreement. 

 
 Section 3.  Designation of Local Trustee and Execution of Trust Agreement.  The 

Borrower hereby designates BancFirst, to serve as local trustee (the “Local Trustee”) of certain 
funds in relation to the 2018 Note. The Trust Agreement by and between the Borrower and the 
Local Trustee, pertaining to the 2018 Note (the “Trust Agreement”) is hereby approved and the 

Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary or Assistant Secretary are hereby authorized to 
execute same for and on behalf of the Borrower, and to do all other lawful things to carry out the 

terms and conditions of said Trust Agreement.  
 
 Section 4.  Execution of Security Agreement.  The Security Agreement by the 

Borrower in favor of the Board (the “Security Agreement”), whereby the Borrower gives a lien 
on the revenues of the System to the Board to secure payment of the 2018 Note is hereby 

approved and the Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary or Assistant Secretary are hereby 
authorized to execute same for and on behalf of the Borrower, and do all other lawful things to 
carry out the terms and conditions of said Security Agreement. 

 
 Section 5.  Lease Agreement.  The Lease Agreement dated as of April 1, 1996 (the 

"Water/Sewer Lease Agreement") whereby the City leased its water and sanitary sewer systems 
to the Borrower, and whereby the Borrower agreed to operate and maintain said systems, is 
hereby ratified and confirmed and the term of said Water/Sewer Lease Agreement shall extend 

until the 2018 Note is paid. The Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary or Assistant 
Secretary of the Borrower be and are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Lease 

Agreement and Operation and Maintenance Contract (the "Storm Water/Sanitation Lease 
Agreement") whereby the City shall lease its stormwater and sanitation systems to the Borrower, 
and whereby the Borrower agrees to operate and maintain said systems. 

 
 Section 6.  Subordinate Lien Sales Tax Agreement.  The Chairman or Vice Chairman 

and Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Borrower be and are hereby authorized to execute and 
deliver a Subordinate Lien Sales Tax Agreement on behalf of the Borrower pertaining to the 
year-to-year pledge of the Sales Tax Revenue for purposes of securing the 2018 Note. 

 
 Section7.   Covenants of Borrower.  Until payment in full of the 2018 Note and 

performance of all obligations owing to the Board under the Loan Agreement and the 
instruments executed pursuant hereto, unless the Board shall otherwise consent in writing, the 



4 
 

Borrower hereby represents its intent to abide by and carry out the covenants contained in the 
Security Agreement and the Loan Agreement, which covenants are incorporated herein in their 

entirety. 
 

 Section 8.  Project Costs Disbursement Account; Fees and Expenses.  The Borrower 
is authorized to establish an account or accounts as necessary to serve as the Project Costs 
Disbursement Account described in the Loan Agreement.  Upon closing of the referenced loan, 

the officers of the Borrower are hereby authorized to disburse (from loan proceeds or other 
available funds of the Borrower) those fees and expenses as will be set forth on the Borrower’s 

Closing Order to be executed in connection with the closing of the financing referenced herein. 
 
 Section 9.  Necessary Action.  The Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary or 

Assistant Secretary of the Borrower are hereby further authorized on behalf of the Borrower to 
accept, receive, execute, attest, seal and deliver the above mentioned documents and all 

additional documentation, certifications and instruments and to take such further actions as may 
be required in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the execution of 
the Letter of Binding Commitment, and are further authorized to approve and make any changes 

to the documents approved by this Resolution, for and on behalf of the Borrower, the execution 
and delivery of such documents being conclusive as to the approval of any terms contained 

therein. 
 

[Remainder of Page 

Left Blank Intentionally] 



5 
 

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 18TH DAY OF JUNE, 2018. 
 

       SAPULPA MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
       _________________________________   

       Chairman 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

 
_________________________________ 

Secretary 
 
(SEAL) 



6 
 

STATE OF OKLAHOMA ) 
    )SS 

COUNTY OF CREEK ) 
 

 I, the undersigned, Secretary of the Sapulpa Municipal Authority, Creek County, 
Oklahoma, an Oklahoma public trust, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true, 
full and correct copy of an excerpt from the minutes of a meeting of the Board of Trustees of 

said public trust held on the date above stated, all as recorded in the official minutes of such 
meeting.  I further certify that the “Open Meeting Law” was complied with for such meeting.  

 
 GIVEN UNDER MY HAND THIS 18TH DAY OF JUNE, 2018. 
 

 
 

(SEAL)      _________________________________ 
       Secretary 
 

 
 

  
 
 



AGENDA ITEM

   
    Administration    7.B.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted For: Rick Rumsey, Assistant City Manager 
Submitted By: Amy Hoehner, Legal Assistant
Department: Assistant City Manager
Presented By: Rick Rumsey

SUBJECT:
Discussion and possible action regarding Engineering Services Agreement with Tetra Tech for
operations and maintenance of the jointly owned Skiatook Raw Water Conveyance System during
Fiscal Year 2018-2019 in a shared total amount of $340,944.00, of which the City of Sapulpa is
obligated for $136,377.60.

BACKGROUND:
The Sand Springs/Sapulpa Joint Board voted 4-0 to recommended the Sapulpa Municipal
Authority approve an agreement for engineering services with Tetra Tech. The City of Sand
Springs is apportioned 60% of the costs associated with the agreement for a total amount of
$204,566.40 and the City of Sapulpa is apportioned the remaining 40% resulting in an amount of
$136,377.60 for Fiscal Year 2018-2019.  For additional information regarding this item, please
refer to the attachments.

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends Trustees approve Agreement and authorize Chairman to execute same.

Fiscal Impact

Amount: $136,377.60
To be paid from: Sapulpa Muinicipal Authority
Account number: 20-524-315B

Attachments
Tetra Tech memo
Joint Board - Agreement - Tetra Tech





















































AGENDA ITEM

   
    Administration    7.C.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted For: Rick Rumsey, Assistant City Manager 
Submitted By: Amy Hoehner, Legal Assistant
Department: Assistant City Manager
Presented By: Rick Rumsey

SUBJECT:
Discussion and possible action regarding Professional Services Agreement for Engineering
Services with Tetra Tech for the Frankoma Road Sanitary Sewer Extension Project in the amount
of $468,500.00.

BACKGROUND:
This agreement with Tetra Tech is for the engineering services needed for the Frankoma Road
sewer extension project. This project consists of a new gravity sewer, lift station with backup
generator, and force main needed to provide sanitary sewer service to the proposed development
located near East 81st Street and Frankoma Road.  The scope of services includes design,
development, project management, and all inspections as needed. For additional information
regarding this item, please refer to the attachment.

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends Trustees approve Agreement and authorize Chairman to execute same.

Fiscal Impact

Amount: $468,500.00
To be paid from: OWRB Loan Proceeds
Account number: 49-4203

Attachments
Agreement - Tetra Tech



 

  
 Page 1 of 1 Professional Services Agreement 

 

Tetra Tech, Inc. 
Professional Services Agreement for Engineering Services 

 
 
This Agreement is made and becomes effective this 12th day of June, 2018, between Sapulpa Municipal 
Authority (Client) and Tetra Tech, Inc. (Consultant), a Delaware corporation. 
 
Client hereby retains Consultant to perform engineering services in connection with a Project described as 
Frankoma Road Sanitary Sewer Extension and as further described in Attachment A. Consultant agrees to 
perform the services in consideration of the compensation described in Attachment A and in accordance with the 
terms described in the attached Standard Terms and Conditions.   
 
This Agreement consists of this document together with Attachment A - Project Requirements and the attached 
Standard Terms and Conditions. This Agreement between the Client and Consultant supersedes all prior written 
and oral understandings. This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or cancelled by a duly 
executed written instrument. Signature by facsimile or e-mail shall be deemed original. 
 
In executing this Agreement, the undersigned also acknowledge their authority to bind the parties to all terms and 
conditions.   
 
In witness whereof, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written. 
 
 

Sapulpa Municipal Authority Tetra Tech, Inc. 
P.O. Box 1130 7645 East 63rd Street, Suite 301 
Sapulpa, Oklahoma 74067 Tulsa, Oklahoma 74133 
 918.249.3909 

 
 

By   By  

 Client's Authorized Signature   Consultant's Authorized Signature 
     
 Reg Green   Felix R. Belanger, P.E. 

 Printed Name   Vice President 
 Trust Chairman    

 Title    
     
     
     
     
 Attest:    
     
     

 
mwt\G:\Administrative\Contracts\Client Contracts\Client Work Order Contracts\Sapulpa Municipal Authority\A-200-11386-18002.docx 

 



 

  
 Page 1 of 8 Attachment A – Project Requirements 

Professional Services Agreement 

Attachment A – Project Requirements 
 

Client: Sapulpa Municipal Authority 

Project Description 

Frankoma Road Sanitary Sewer Extension 
The Project consists of one new gravity sewer, lift station, and force main needed to provide sanitary sewer service 
to the proposed development located near East 81st St. and Frankhoma Road describes the proposed 
improvements, and includes an Opinion of Probable Construction Cost of $2,600,000 for: 

a. 18-inch gravity sewer (1,400 feet) 
b. 0.70 MGD lift station, with backup generator 
c. 6-inch diameter force main (9,000 feet) 

Scope of Services 
 

The services performed by Consultant under this Agreement shall consist of seven tasks, as stated below. Further, 
it is understood and agreed that the Work that is the subject of this Agreement shall commence upon execution of 
this Agreement and after receipt of a Notice to Proceed. 
 
Consultant shall coordinate the overall Work of the project to include all data gathering, field inspections, analysis, 
design, bidding assistance, construction administration, and resident project representative and shall oversee the 
Work of all Subconsultants engaged in such activities. Consultant shall provide progress updates to Client as 
needed throughout the duration of the project. 
 
TASK A – CONCEPTUAL DESIGN (30%) 

A. Consultant shall prepare an Engineering Report consisting of the development and evaluation of proposed 
improvements and alternatives considered in the format provided by the Oklahoma Funding Agency 
Coordination Team (FACT). Consultant shall complete the implementation within 90 days of Notice to 
Proceed. 

B. Consultant shall also prepare an Environmental Information Document (EID) suitable for the funding 
agency in the format provided by the Oklahoma Funding Agency Coordination Team (FACT).  The 
preparation of the EID will occur concurrent with the Engineering Report. 

C. Project Kick-Off 
1. Following receipt of a Notice to Proceed from Client, Consultant shall coordinate, plan, and lead one 

project kick-off meeting. Consultant attendees will include at a minimum the Project Manager and the 
discipline lead. The major objectives of the meeting are to: 
a. Establish the lines of communications with Client 
b. Confirm the project scope, goals, objectives and constraints 
c. Confirm the project schedule and milestones 
d. Convey project knowledge of existing assets from Client to Consultant 
e. Identify data required by Consultant from Client to support the project 

2. Following the meeting, Client will provide the data requested at the meeting to the Consultant. 
D. Site and Alignment Selection 

1. Following completion of the project kick-off meeting, Consultant shall review the lift station site and 
pipeline alignments alternatives to be included in the Engineering Report. The review shall consist of 
evaluating any new project knowledge obtained by Consultant or Client since conception of the 
project. Consultant shall meet with Client to discuss any new knowledge that may warrant a change 
in the site or pipeline alignments. At the end of the meeting, Consultant and Client shall agree on the 
site and pipeline alignments that the Consultant shall investigate.   

E. Investigations 
1. Following agreement with Client of the site selected to locate lift station, and the proposed alignments 

of the gravity sewer and force main, Consultant shall coordinate, plan, and execute site investigations. 
2. Investigations shall include confirmations of preliminary information obtained during the proposal 

phase. These confirmations shall include ground elevations, soil conditions, existing utility information, 
land ownership, easement and right-of-way requirements, existing City sanitary system hydraulic 
capacity, and a review of Client information. 

3. Consultant shall undertake the following investigations: 
a. Topographical survey 



 Page 2 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

i. Consultant shall contract with a Subconsultant to undertake a full topographical survey of the 
site selected to locate lift station, and along the proposed alignments of the gravity sewer and 
force main, to State of Oklahoma survey standards. This Agreement assumes that the scope 
of the topographic survey shall include: 
a) Survey of the agreed selected lift station site (no more than 1/3 acres) 
b) Survey along the agreed alignment of the proposed gravity sanitary sewer (no more than 

1,400 ft.), 50-foot width  
c) Survey along the agreed alignment of the proposed force main (no more than 9,000 ft.), 

30-foot to 80-foot width 
d) Establish a local coordinate system (or utilize a Client coordinate system if available) for 

horizontal control for the proposed gravity sewer alignments that may be tied to the state 
plane coordinate system by Client. 

e) Establish vertical control utilizing USGS or other established benchmarks. 
f) Set horizontal and vertical controls at spacing no greater than 500 feet apart, with line of 

sight between each successive set control point. 
g) Prepare topographic drawings of the areas encompassed in by survey extent perimeters. 
h) Provide Finished Floor Elevations (FFE) of all existing structures within survey extents. 

Always provide FFE for structures when encountering a side easement. FFE are not 
necessary in backyard easements, solely service line cleanouts. 

i) Provide horizontal and vertical survey data relative to all existing drainage structures, 
ditches, and streams. 

j) Identify existing utilities participating in the Call-OKIE system at the lift station site, and 
along the proposed centerline of the gravity sewer and force main alignments. Coordinate 
with Client for location all public utilities (i.e. water lines) prior to start of detailed survey. 
Tie locations where possible to survey data and delineated on the construction drawings. 

k) For waterlines, locate the nearest valve box. Water valves shall be designated with the 
correct symbol. 

l) Identify all existing benchmarks, temporary benchmarks, pk nails, etc. 
m) Create a topographical drawing, with 1-ft contour intervals. Survey should include 

overhead and buried utilities as well as trees, structures, roads (including material), top 
and toe of retaining walls, and other noteworthy features that may influence the design of 
the street repair or the proposed gravity sewer line. All trees larger than 6” diameter within 
the survey extents shall be identified with an individual tree symbol and text with 
description of the tree (i.e., 14” oak, 24” maple). 

n) Survey all existing utilities within survey extents. 
o) For sanitary sewers and storm sewers, also locate the closest upstream and the closest 

downstream manholes including all pipe sizes, pipe materials, and top of manhole (rim) 
and flow line elevations. Record the pipe flowline elevation of all lines coming into 
manholes. If the manhole is a drop manhole, it is to be noted on the survey drawings, and 
all flowline elevations are to be given. 

p) Locate sufficient property corners and/or section corners to establish platted property, un-
platted property, and right-of-way crossed by existing and proposed sanitary sewer and 
water lines. Locate existing property fences for correlation to the property corners. 

ii. Full or partial topographical surveys of areas not specified in this Agreement (including 
changes to the agreed quantity of site area and pipeline lengths) are outside the scope of this 
Agreement.   

b. Soil investigations, including test borings and geotechnical report 
i. Consultant shall contract with a Subconsultant to undertake soil investigations at the site 

selected to locate lift station, and along the proposed alignments of the gravity sewer and 
force main. The results of the soil investigations shall be summarized in a report that shall 
include: 
a) Soil boring logs and classification 
b) Existing ground-water levels 
c) Pipe trench and excavation preparations and backfill recommendations 
d)  Foundation requirements for lift station structure 
e) Other concerns as appropriate 

ii. This Agreement assumes Consultant will undertake six (6) test borings up to 20 ft. deep. 
Investigations shall undertake test borings at the following locations:  



 Page 3 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

a) Along the proposed alignments of the gravity sewer and force main, that extend at least 
two feet below the proposed flowlines (3 test borings) 

b) At each end of any project conduit bored in place (2 test borings) 
i. Frankhoma and BNSF Railroad Crossing 

c) At the proposed locations of the lift station (1 test boring) 
c. Potholing 

i. Where required, Consultant shall contract with a Subconsultant to undertake potholing of 
utilities found along the gravity sewer and force main alignments that may conflict with the 
proposed alignments to determine their exact depth and location. This Agreement assumes 
that Consultant is required to undertake potholing at up to four (4) locations. 

d. Abstract and Title 
i. Consultant shall contract with a Subconsultant to obtain necessary property reports to 

determine land ownership and existing easements in the Project areas. This Agreement 
assumes that Consultant is required to produce property reports for six (6) parcels. 

e. Flow monitoring 
i. Consultant shall undertake flow monitoring of the Client’s sanitary sewer interceptor 

downstream of the proposed force main discharge point. The purpose of the monitoring is to 
capture data related to how the interceptor currently responds to wet weather events.  These 
results will be included in the ODEQ Permit-to-Construct as required.  This Agreement 
assumes that Consultant will install one (1) flow meter for up to 60 days. 

ii. In event that no significant wet weather events occur within the specified time, Consultant can 
prolong the flow-monitoring period with Client’s prior agreement. 

F. Consultant shall oversee the Work of all Subconsultants. In overseeing their Work: 
1. Liaise with Client and landowners to obtain permission for sub consultants to enter property to 

undertake work 
2. Review all drawings and reports produced by the sub consultants to determine if it meets the scope 

of their subcontracts, and are complete to engineering best practice 
3. Provide Client with a copy of all drawings and reports produced by the sub consultants in raw and pdf 

format 
G. Client shall consider Task A - Conceptual Design (30%) complete upon Client’s review and acceptance of 

the letter report.  
TASK B - PRELIMINARY DESIGN (65%)  

A. Consultant shall prepare preliminary (65%) design, which shall include preliminary design plans and 
specifications, and a preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost within 50 calendar days after 
completion of Task A - Conceptual Design (30%). 

B. Hydraulic Modeling. 
1. Consultant shall use the flow monitoring data to hydraulically model Client’s sanitary sewer interceptor 

downstream of the proposed force main discharge point to determine its response to wet weather 
volumes. 

C. Preliminary Design 
1. Consultant shall prepare preliminary design (65%) plans and specifications for the proposed 

improvements. The preliminary plans and specifications shall be of sufficient detail to the extent that 
the design concept is clearly demonstrated, such that Client can review the major features, materials, 
and equipment. Preliminary Design shall consist of: 
a. Preliminary Drawings 

i. Site plan showing lift station 
ii. Lift station plan and sections 
iii. Plan and profile sheets of gravity sewer and force main 

b. List of major materials and equipment 
c. Outline specifications of major materials and equipment 
d. Identify information required for permits 

D. Preliminary Cost Estimate 
1. Consultant shall update the Opinion of Probable Construction Cost contained within the Engineering 

Report compiled during the implementation phase based on the preliminary plans and specifications.  
E. Design Review Meeting 

1. On completion of the preliminary design, Consultant shall submit all documentation to the Client for 
review. Consultant shall provide Client with four copies of the preliminary plans and specifications and 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost update. Plans shall be in 11" X 17" format acceptable to the 
ODEQ. Following Client review, Consultant shall coordinate, plan and lead one design review meeting 



 Page 4 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

to discuss Client’s review of the preliminary design. Consultant and Client shall agree upon Client’s 
comments Consultant shall incorporate into the final design. 

F. Easement Documents 
1. Consultant shall prepare legal descriptions for up to 6 proposed additional right-of-way and easements 

required for offset alignments in accordance with State of Oklahoma survey standards and City 
requirements. The legal descriptions shall adequately describe all proposed additional right-of-way 
and be provided to Client for use in right-of-way acquisition.  

2. Client shall review the legal descriptions and provide comments to Consultant. Consultant shall modify 
the legal descriptions if necessary in response to Client comments, and provide final legal descriptions 
to Client. 

3. Client shall perform Right-of-way acquisition and is not included within this Agreement. 
G. Client shall consider Task B - Preliminary Design complete on completion of the design review meeting 

with Consultant. 
TASK C - FINAL DESIGN 
Consultant shall finalize the plans and specifications as required for bidding and construction of the proposed 
improvements and submit for approval within 50 days of receiving preliminary design review comments agreed 
with Client. 

A. Detailed (95%) Design 
1. Consultant shall prepare detailed design plans and specifications for the proposed improvements. 

a. The purpose of this design phase and review is to ensure that: 
i. Funding and construction duration limits are not being exceeded 
ii. Production of plans, specifications and cost estimate are proceeding in a timely manner 
iii. Consultant is incorporating Client comments from the preliminary design phase into the design   

2. Detailed plans shall include where required plan and profile sheets; civil, structural, mechanical, 
electrical and P&ID sheets; detail sheets; and all other sheets necessary up to 95% complete and 
comply with Client standard specifications and drawings.  

3. Consultant shall produce construction drawings to engineering best practice that comply with current 
applicable Federal, State, and Local regulations. 

4. Consultant will develop project specific specifications and drawings for all items of work not covered 
by Client standard specifications or drawings. 

B. Detailed Cost Estimate 
1. Consultant shall prepare an updated Opinion of Probable Construction Cost based on the detailed 

design. 
C. Detailed Design Review 

1. On completion of the detailed design, Consultant will submit all documentation to Client for review, 
Following Client review, Tetra Tech will coordinate, plan and lead one meeting to discuss and review 
the detailed design. Consultant shall provide Client with four copies of the detailed plans and 
specifications and Opinion of Probable Construction Cost update. Plans shall be in 11" X 17" format 
acceptable to the ODEQ. Upon receipt of Client’s comments, Consultant will incorporate these 
comments into the production of the final design (100%) documentation.  

D. Final (100%) Design 
1. Consultant shall prepare final design plans and specifications for the proposed improvements based 

upon Client’s comments on the detailed design. 
2. This design phase represents a 100% complete design except for the incorporation of any Client 

review comments. Final design shall consist of: 
a. Complete drawings, including those that address construction phasing 
b. Final edited specifications 

E. Final Cost Estimate 
1. Consultant shall prepare an updated Opinion of Probable Construction Cost based on the final design. 

F. Client shall consider Task C - Final Design complete upon Client’s approval of the final bid documents. 
TASK D - PERMITS 

A. After acceptance by Client of the final plans and specifications, Consultant shall prepare and assist Client 
in submitting the documents necessary for Client to obtain requisite permits to construct the Work.  

B. Consultant shall assist the Client with preparation of the applications for the following identified permits: 
1. ODEQ Permit to Construct 
2. BNSF pipeline crossing permit 

C. Regarding stormwater, the Contractor is responsible for filing a Notice of intent with ODEQ for more than 
one (1) acre of disturbed ground. Consultant shall address stormwater management within the Contract 
documents. 



 Page 5 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

D. Consultant shall prepare the requisite number, size, and format of plans and specifications required for 
each permit application, along with completion of the permit application forms. Client shall provide 
Consultant with all relevant applicant information necessary to complete the permit application forms. 
Client shall review the permit applications once and Consultant shall make all necessary changes once 
prior to final submittal to the Client. Client shall accept the final permit applications, and be responsible for 
submission of the applications along with payment of all permit application fees. 

E. If the permitter request changes to the plans and specifications submitted with the permit application, 
Consultant shall make the required changes and resubmit the documents to Client. Consultant shall make 
changes until the permitter grants a permit. 

F. Client shall consider Task D - Permits complete upon Client receiving approved permits. 
G. If the permitter requires additional investigative study concerning other permitted or unpermitted 

infrastructure to process the permit associated with this project additional fees may be incurred.  This type 
of additional effort will require an amendment to the original agreement prior to beginning. 

TASK E – BID PHASE SERVICES 
A. After acceptance by Client of the final bid documents and the most recent Opinion of Probable 

Construction Cost as determined in the Final Design phase and upon authorization by Client to proceed, 
Consultant shall: 
1. Prepare an advertisement for bids and coordinate publication of the bidding notice in the local press 

with Client. Client is responsible for the cost of advertisement. 
2. Distribute copies of the final bid documents to prospective bidders, bid rooms, material suppliers and 

other interested parties. Consultant shall offer bidders the opportunity to obtain the bid documents 
online, and maintain a register of plan holders. 

3. Coordinate, plan and lead one pre-bid meeting hosted at City Hall. Following the meeting, Consultant 
shall coordinate with Client to respond to any questions raised by the bidder and issue any required 
addenda to all plan holders as appropriate to clarify, correct, or change the bidding documents. 

4. Attend the bid-opening meeting, and tabulate the received bid proposals alongside the Opinion of 
Probable Construction Cost. Consultant shall: 
a. Analyze the received bid proposals and qualifications to determine their suitability 
b. Note any mathematical errors within the received bids 
c. Check references stated by the bidders in their bids. 
d. Consult with Client as to the acceptability of Subcontractors, suppliers, and other individuals and 

entities proposed by prospective Contractors for those portions of the Work as to which such 
acceptability is required by the bidding documents. 

e. Provide information or assistance needed by Client in the course of any negotiations with 
prospective Contractors. 

f. Recommend to Client in writing for awarding the construction contract to the most responsive 
bidder. 

g. Upon award of contract, Consultant shall furnish up to six (6) sets of the conformed, full contract 
documents to the Contractor for execution and submittal to Client for subsequent execution. 
Consultant shall then coordinate with the Client to issue a NTP to the selected bidder. 

B. Client shall consider Task E - Bid Phase Service complete upon commencement of the Construction Phase 
or upon cessation of negotiations with prospective Contractors.  

TASK F – CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
A. Upon successful completion of the Bid Phase, and upon written authorization from Client, Consultant shall: 

1. Provide general engineering review of the construction work as it progresses to ascertain that the 
Contractor is conforming to the design concept. Consultant shall employ a full-time Resident Project 
Representative, not to exceed 50 hours in any given week. 
a. Resident Project Representative shall attend the Site each working day to observe the Work. 

Engineer shall make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction, 
as Engineer deems necessary, to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional 
the progress of Contractor’s executed Work. Such visits and observations by Engineer, and the 
Resident Project Representative, are not intended to be exhaustive or to extend to every aspect 
of Contractor’s Work in progress or to involve detailed inspections of Contractor’s Work in 
progress beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement and the 
Contract Documents, but rather are to be limited to spot checking, selective sampling, and similar 
methods of general observation of the Work based on Engineer’s exercise of professional 
judgment, as assisted by the Resident Project Representative.  Based on information obtained 
during such visits and observations, Engineer will determine in general if the Work is proceeding 



 Page 6 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

in accordance with the Contract Documents, and Engineer shall keep Owner informed of the 
progress of the Work. 

b. The purpose of Engineer’s visits to the Site, and representation by the Resident Project 
Representative at the Site, shall be to enable Consultant to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities assigned to Consultant during the Construction Phase. In addition, by the exercise 
of Consultant’s efforts as an experienced and qualified design professional, to provide for Client 
a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work shall conform in general to the Contract 
Documents, and that Contractor has implemented and maintained the integrity of the design 
concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated in the Contract Documents. 
Consultant shall not, during such visits or as a result of such observations of Contractor’s Work in 
progress, supervise, direct, or have control over Contractor’s Work, nor shall Consultant have 
authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of 
construction selected or used by Contractor, for security or safety at the Site, for safety 
precautions and programs incident to Contractor’s Work, nor for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s furnishing and performing the Work. 
Accordingly, Consultant neither guarantees the performance of any Contractor nor assumes 
responsibility for any Contractor’s failure to furnish or perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

2. Coordinate, plan and lead a Pre-Construction Conference with Client and Contractor. Consultant shall 
coordinate with Client to issue clarifications in response to questions raised at the conference. 

3. Receive, review, and determine the acceptability of all schedules Contractor is required to submit to 
Consultant, including the Progress Schedule, Schedule of Submittals, and Schedule of Values. 

4. Coordinate, plan and lead monthly construction progress meetings, and submit a meeting summary 
to Client and Contractor within one week of the meeting. 

5. Respond to Client requests for interpretation of the plans and specifications. 
a. Consultant shall issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as 

appropriate to the orderly completion of Contractor’s Work. Such clarifications and interpretations 
shall be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents. 
Subject to any limitations in the Contract Documents, Consultant may assist Client in issuing field 
orders authorizing minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

6. Review Contractor submittals for conformance with the Contract Documents. 
a. Consultant shall produce a summary list of submittals required from Contractor collated from the 

individual submittal requirements of each specification. Consultant shall hand over the summary 
list to Contractor at the Pre-Construction Conference. The list shall act as a checklist to ensure 
that Contractor has submitted all of the required submittals. Consultant shall track all received 
submittals and responses, along with the dates of receipt and response. Consultant shall respond 
to all submittals in a timely manner, and provide Client with a copy of all responses for concurrence 
prior to submission to Contractor. This Agreement assumes that each Contractor submittal 
requires one original review and only one revision review by Consultant.  

7. Review the Contractor’s schedule and milestone dates for conformity with the Contract Time to 
Complete. Consultant shall use the schedule as a tool for assessing Contractor progress at the 
monthly construction progress meetings  

8. Respond to Requests for Information (RFI) for Contractor regarding questions on the plans and 
specifications.  
a. Consultant shall track the request and responses, along with the dates of request and response. 

Consultant shall respond to all RFIs in a timely manner, and provide Client with a copy of all 
responses for concurrence prior to submission to Contractor. 

9. As necessary, prepare Contract change orders and Work change directives and associated exhibits 
for Client consideration in a timely manner. This Agreement assumes that such changes only result 
from conditions in the field differing from those described in the Contract Documents as to require 
changes to the Contract. 

10. Perform a Pre-Final (and/or Substantial) inspection of the completed work in conjunction with the 
Contractor and Client to develop a punch list of items. Consultant shall forward this list to Contractor 
and Client 

11. Issue a statement of Substantial Construction Completion and submit a written certification to Client 
12. Following approval of Contractor’s final application for payment, submit a written statement of 

completion to Client with the recommendation that it accepts the improvements 
13. Notify Client if, on the basis of Consultant’s observations, Consultant believes that such Work (a) is 

defective under the standards set forth in the Contract Documents, (b) shall not produce a completed 



 Page 7 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

Project that conforms to the Contract Documents, or (c) shall imperil the integrity of the design concept 
of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. 

14. Review and approve or take other appropriate action in respect to Shop Drawings and Samples and 
other data which Contractor is required to submit, but only for conformance with the information given 
in the Contract Documents and compatibility with the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Such reviews and approvals or other 
action shall not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or 
to safety precautions and programs incident thereto. Consultant shall meet any Contractor’s submittal 
schedule that Consultant has accepted. 

15. Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or “or-equal” materials and equipment proposed 
by Contractor. 

B. Duration of Construction Phase 
1. The Construction Phase will commence with the execution of the Construction Contract for the Project 

or any part thereof and will terminate upon final payment to Contractor. Consultant may be entitled to 
an increase in compensation if Construction Phase services are required after the original date for 
completion and readiness for final payment of Contractor as set forth in the Construction Contract.  
Maximum duration for the Construction Contract will be 300 calendar days. 

C. Limitation of Responsibilities 
1. Consultant shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, Subcontractor or 

Supplier, or other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work, for safety or security 
at the Site, or for safety precautions and programs incident to Contractor's Work, during the 
Construction Phase or otherwise. Consultant shall not be responsible for the failure of any Contractor 
to perform or furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  

D. Client shall consider Task F - Construction Phase Services complete upon acceptance of the improvements 
by Client. 

TASK G – POST CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
A. Following construction completion, Consultant shall provide two (2) full sized reproducible prints, one 

AutoCAD format file, one full sized (22” x 34”) PDF file and one half-sized (11” x 17”) PDF file of the as-built 
drawings. Consultant shall base these drawings on the construction records provided by Contractor and 
reviewed by the Consultant’s Resident Project Representative.  

B. Client shall consider Task G - Post Construction Phase complete upon Client’s acceptance of the record 
drawing submittals. 

Additional Services 
A. Additional Services Requiring Client’s Written Authorization 

1. If authorized in writing by Owner, Engineer shall furnish or obtain from others Additional Services of 
the types listed below: 
a. Services resulting from significant changes in the scope, extent, or character of the portions of the 

Project designed or specified by Consultant or its design requirements including, but not limited 
to, changes in size, complexity, Client’s schedule, character of construction, or method of 
financing; and revising previously accepted studies, reports, plans, specifications, or Contract 
Documents when such revisions are required by changes in Laws and Regulations enacted 
subsequent to the Effective Date or are due to any other causes beyond Consultant’s control. 

b. Providing construction surveys and staking to enable Contractor to perform its work, and any type 
of property surveys or related engineering services needed for the transfer of interests in real 
property, and providing other special field surveys. 

c. Other services performed or furnished by Consultant not otherwise provided for in this Agreement. 
Responsibilities of Client 

A. Client agrees: 
1. To furnish, as required by the Work, and not at expense to Consultant: 

a. Records, reports, studies, plans, drawings, and other data available in the files of the Client, which 
may be useful in the Project. 

2. To provide access to public and private property when required in performance of Consultant’s 
services 

3. To furnish the services of at least one of Client’s employees or staff who has right of entry to, and who 
has knowledge of, Client’s facilities relating to this Project 

4. To furnish legal assistance as required in the preparation, review, and approval of construction 
documents 

5. To furnish assistance in locating existing utilities and in expediting their relocation 



 Page 8 of 8  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

Special Assumptions 

 

Project Schedule 

Consultant shall complete the Work in accordance with the following schedule. The anticipated time to complete the 
Project to construction completion (Task A to Task G) is approximately 21 ½ months. The Project schedule can be 
influenced by factors outside of Consultant’s control e.g. time taken to acquire right-of-way, permits etc. 

Task Date 
Task A – Conceptual Design (30%) 90 days after Notice to Proceed 
Task B - Preliminary Design (65%) 50 days after approval of Task A 
Task C - Final Design 50 days after receipt of Client review comments from Task B 
Task D - Permits 90 days after Client approval of Task C deliverables (anticipated) 
Task E - Bid Phase Services 40 days after Client authorization 
Task F - Construction Phase Services 300 days after award of Contract to Contractor by Client 
Task G – Post Construction Services 30 days after construction completion and final acceptance by Client 

Method of Compensation 

Lump Sum  Compensation for these services shall be a lump sum of $468,500. 
 

Supplemental Terms and Conditions 

      

 



 

 Page 1 of 2  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

Tetra Tech, Inc. 

Engineering Services Standard Terms & Conditions 

 

Services Consultant will perform services for the Project as set forth in Attachment A and 
in accordance with these Terms & Conditions. Consultant has developed the Project 
scope of service, schedule, and compensation based on available information and 
various assumptions. The Client acknowledges that adjustments to the schedule and 
compensation may be necessary based on the actual circumstances encountered by 
Consultant in performing their services. Consultant is authorized to proceed with services 
upon receipt of an executed Agreement. 

Compensation In consideration of the services performed by Consultant, the Client shall 
pay Consultant in the manner set forth above. The parties acknowledge that terms of 
compensation are based on an orderly and continuous progress of the Project. 
Compensation shall be equitably adjusted for delays or extensions of time beyond the 
control of Consultant. Where total project compensation has been separately identified 
for various tasks, Consultant may adjust the amounts allocated between tasks as the 
work progresses so long as the total compensation amount for the project is not 
exceeded. 

Fee Definitions The following fee types shall apply to methods of payment: 

• Salary Cost is defined as the individual’s base salary plus customary and statutory 
benefits. Statutory benefits shall be as prescribed by law and customary benefits 
shall be as established by Consultant employment policy. 

• Cost Plus is defined as the individual’s base salary plus actual overhead plus 
professional fee. Overhead shall include customary and statutory benefits, 
administrative expense, and non-project operating costs. 

• Lump Sum is defined as a fixed price amount for the scope of services described. 

• Standard Rates is defined as individual time multiplied by standard billing rates for 
that individual. 

• Subcontracted Services are defined as Project-related services provided by other 
parties to Consultant. 

• Reimbursable Expenses are defined as actual expenses incurred in connection 
with the Project. 

Payment Terms Consultant shall submit invoices at least once per month for services 
performed and Client shall pay the full invoice amount within 30 days of the invoice date. 
Invoices will be considered correct if not questioned in writing within 10 days of the invoice 
date. Client payment to Consultant is not contingent on arrangement of project financing 
or receipt of funds from a third party. In the event the Client disputes the invoice or any 
portion thereof, the undisputed portion shall be paid to Consultant based on terms of this 
Agreement. Invoices not in dispute and unpaid after 30 days shall accrue interest at the 
rate of one and one-half percent per month (or the maximum percentage allowed by law, 
whichever is the lesser). Invoice payment delayed beyond 60 days shall give Consultant 
the right to stop work until payments are current. Non-payment beyond 70 days shall be 
just cause for termination by Consultant. 

Additional Services The Client and Consultant acknowledge that additional services 
may be necessary for the Project to address issues that may not be known at Project 
initiation or that may be required to address circumstances that were not foreseen. In that 
event, Consultant shall notify the Client of the need for additional services and the Client 
shall pay for such additional services in an amount and manner as the parties may 
subsequently agree.  

Site Access The Client shall obtain all necessary approvals for Consultant to access the 
Project site(s). 

Underground Facilities Consultant and/or its authorized subcontractor will conduct 
research and perform site reconnaissance in an effort to discover the location of existing 
underground facilities prior to developing boring plans, conducting borings, or undertaking 
invasive subsurface investigations. Client recognizes that accurate drawings or 
knowledge of the location of such facilities may not exist, or that research may reveal as-
built drawings or other documents that may inaccurately show, or not show, the location 
of existing underground facilities. In such events, except for the sole negligence, willful 
misconduct, or practice not conforming to the Standard of Care cited in this Agreement, 
Client agrees to indemnify and hold Consultant and/or its Subcontractor harmless from 
any and all property damage, injury, or economic loss arising or allegedly arising from 
borings or other subsurface penetrations. 

Regulated Wastes Client is responsible for the disposal of all regulated wastes 
generated as a result of services provided under this Agreement. Consultant and Client 
mutually agree that Consultant assumes no responsibility for the waste or disposal 
thereof. 

Contractor Selection Consultant may make recommendations concerning award of 
construction contracts and products. The Client acknowledges that the final selection of 
construction contractors and products is the Client’s sole responsibility. 

Ownership of Documents Drawings, specifications, reports, programs, manuals, or 
other documents, including all documents on electronic media, prepared under this 
Agreement are instruments of service and are, and shall remain, the property of 
Consultant. Record documents of service shall be based on the printed copy. Consultant 
will retain all common law, statutory, and other reserved rights, including the copyright 
thereto. Consultant will furnish documents electronically; however, the Client releases 
Consultant from any liability that may result from documents used in this form. Consultant 
shall not be held liable for reuse of documents or modifications thereof by the Client or its 
representatives for any purpose other than the original intent of this Agreement, without 
written authorization of and appropriate compensation to Consultant. 

Standard of Care Services provided by Consultant under this Agreement will be 
performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised 
by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances. 
Consultant makes no warranty or guaranty, either express or implied. Consultant will not 
be liable for the cost of any omission that adds value to the Project. 

Period of Service This Agreement shall remain in force until completion and acceptance 
of the services or until terminated by mutual agreement. Consultant shall perform the 
services for the Project in a timely manner consistent with sound professional practice. 
Consultant will strive to perform its services according to the Project schedule set forth in 
the provisions for Scope of Work/Fee/Schedule in Attachment A. The services of each 
task shall be considered complete when deliverables for the task have been presented 
to the Client. Consultant shall be entitled to an extension of time and compensation 
adjustment for any delay beyond Consultant control. 

Insurance and Liability Consultant shall maintain the following insurance and coverage 
limits during the period of service. The Client will be named as an additional insured on 
the Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance policies. 

Worker’s Compensation – as required by applicable state statute 
Commercial General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, including 
death and property damage, and $2,000,000 in the aggregate 
Automobile Liability –$1,000,000 combined single limit for bodily injury and property 
damage 
Professional Liability (E&O) - $1,000,000 each claim and in the aggregate 

The Client shall make arrangements for Builder’s Risk, Protective Liability, Pollution 
Prevention, and other specific insurance coverage warranted for the Project in amounts 
appropriate to the Project value and risks. Consultant shall be a named insured on those 
policies where Consultant may be at risk. The Client shall obtain the counsel of others in 
setting insurance limits for construction contracts.  

Indemnification Consultant shall indemnify and hold harmless the Client and its 
employees from any liability, settlements, loss, or costs (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and costs of defense) to the extent caused solely by the negligent act, error, or 
omission of Consultant in the performance of services under this Agreement. If such 
damage results in part by the negligence of another party, Consultant shall be liable only 
to the extent of Consultant’s proportional negligence. 

Dispute Resolution The Client and Consultant agree that they shall diligently pursue 
resolution of all disagreements within 45 days of either party’s written notice using a 
mutually acceptable form of mediated dispute resolution prior to exercising their rights 
under law. Consultant shall continue to perform services for the Project and the Client 
shall pay for such services during the dispute resolution process unless the Client issues 
a written notice to suspend work. Causes of action between the parties to this Agreement 
shall be deemed to have accrued and the applicable statutes of repose and/or limitation 
shall commence not later than the date of substantial completion. 

Suspension of Work The Client may suspend services performed by Consultant with 
cause upon fourteen (14) days written notice. Consultant shall submit an invoice for 
services performed up to the effective date of the work suspension and the Client shall 
pay Consultant all outstanding invoices within fourteen (14) days. If the work suspension 
exceeds thirty (30) days from the effective work suspension date, Consultant shall be 
entitled to renegotiate the Project schedule and the compensation terms for the Project. 

Termination The Client or Consultant may terminate services on the Project upon seven 
(7) days written notice without cause or in the event of substantial failure by the other 
party to fulfill its obligations of the terms hereunder. Consultant shall submit an invoice for 
services performed up to the effective date of termination and the Client shall pay 
Consultant all outstanding invoices, together with all costs arising out of such termination, 
within fourteen (14) days. The Client may withhold an amount for services that may be in 
dispute provided that the Client furnishes a written notice of the basis for their dispute and 
that the amount withheld represents a reasonable value. 



 Page 2 of 2  Tt Terms & Conditions, Rev 04/01/17 

Authorized Representative The Project Manager assigned to the Project by Consultant 
is authorized to make decisions or commitments related to the project on behalf of 
Consultant. Only authorized representatives of Consultant are authorized to execute 
contracts and/or work orders on behalf of Consultant. The Client shall designate a 
representative with similar authority. Email messages between Client and members of 
the project team shall not be construed as an actual or proposed contractual amendment 
of the services, compensation or payment terms of the Agreement. 

Project Requirements The Client shall confirm the objectives, requirements, constraints, 
and criteria for the Project at its inception. If the Client has established design standards, 
they shall be furnished to Consultant at Project inception. Consultant will review the Client 
design standards and may recommend alternate standards considering the standard of 
care provision. 

Independent Consultant Consultant is and shall be at all times during the term of this 
Agreement an independent consultant and not an employee or agent of the Client. 
Consultant shall retain control over the means and methods used in performing 
Consultant’s services and may retain subconsultants to perform certain services as 
determined by Consultant.   

Compliance with Laws Consultant shall perform its services consistent with sound 
professional practice and endeavor to incorporate laws, regulations, codes, and standards 
applicable at the time the work is performed. In the event that standards of practice change 
during the Project, Consultant shall be entitled to additional compensation where additional 
services are needed to conform to the standard of practice. 

Permits and Approvals Consultant will assist the Client in preparing applications and 
supporting documents for the Client to secure permits and approvals from agencies having 
jurisdiction over the Project. The Client agrees to pay all application and review fees. 

Limitation of Liability In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the project to 
both the Client and Consultant, the risks have been allocated such that the Client agrees, 
to the fullest extent permitted by law, to limit the liability of Consultant and its 
subconsultants to the Client and to all construction contractors and subcontractors on the 
project for any and all claims, losses, costs, damages of any nature whatsoever or claims 
expenses from any cause or causes, so that the total aggregate liability of Consultant and 
its subconsultants to all those named shall not exceed $50,000 or the amount of 
Consultant’s total fee paid by the Client for services under this Agreement, whichever is 
the greater.  Such claims and causes include, but are not limited to negligence, 
professional errors or omissions, strict liability, breach of contract or warranty. 

Consequential Damages Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to 
the fullest extent permitted by law, neither the Client nor Consultant, their respective 
officers, directors, partners, employees, contractors or subconsultants shall be liable to 
the other or shall make any claim for any incidental, indirect or consequential damages 
arising out of or connected in any way to the project or to this Agreement.  This mutual 
waiver of consequential damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of 
profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation or any other consequential 
damages that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including 
negligence, strict liability, breach of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty.  Both 
the Client and Consultant shall require similar waivers of consequential damages 
protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with 
others involved in this project or with this Agreement. 

Waiver of Subrogation Consultant shall endeavor to obtain a waiver of subrogation 
against the Client, if requested in writing by the Client, provided that Consultant will not 
increase its exposure to risk and Client will pay the cost associated with any premium 
increase or special fees. 

Environmental Matters The Client warrants that they have disclosed all potential 
hazardous materials that may be encountered on the Project. In the event unknown 
hazardous materials are encountered, Consultant shall be entitled to additional 
compensation for appropriate actions to protect the health and safety of its personnel, 
and for additional services required to comply with applicable laws. The Client shall 
indemnify Consultant from any claim related to hazardous materials encountered on the 
Project except for those events caused by negligent acts of Consultant. 

Cost Opinions Consultant shall prepare cost opinions for the Project based on historical 
information that represents the judgment of a qualified professional. The Client and 
Consultant acknowledge that actual costs may vary from the cost opinions prepared and 
that Consultant offers no guarantee related to the Project cost. 

Contingency Fund The Client acknowledges the potential for changes in the work during 
construction and the Client agrees to include a contingency fund in the Project budget 
appropriate to the potential risks and uncertainties associated with the Project. Consultant 
may offer advice concerning the value of the contingency fund; however, Consultant shall 
not be liable for additional costs that the Client may incur beyond the contingency fund 
they select unless such additional cost results from a negligent act, error, or omission 
related to services performed by Consultant. 

Safety Consultant shall be responsible solely for the safety precautions or programs of 
its employees and no other party. 

Information from Other Parties The Client and Consultant acknowledge that Consultant 
will rely on information furnished by other parties in performing its services under the 
Project. Consultant shall not be liable for any damages that may be incurred by the Client 
in the use of third party information. 

Force Majeure Consultant shall not be liable for any damages caused by any delay that 
is beyond Consultant’s reasonable control, including but not limited to unavoidable delays 
that may result from any acts of God, strikes, lockouts, wars, acts of terrorism, riots, acts 
of governmental authorities, extraordinary weather conditions or other natural 
catastrophes, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of 
either party. 

Waiver of Rights The failure of either party to enforce any provision of these terms and 
conditions shall not constitute a waiver of such provision nor diminish the right of either 
party to the remedies of such provision. 

Warranty Consultant warrants that it will deliver services under the Agreement within the 
standard of care. No other expressed or implied warranty is provided by Consultant. 

Severability Any provision of these terms later held to be unenforceable shall be deemed 
void and all remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect. In such event, the 
Client and Consultant will work in good faith to replace an invalid provision with one that 
is valid with as close to the original meaning as possible. 

Survival All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all 
provisions of these terms that allocate responsibility or liability between the Client and 
Consultant shall survive the completion or termination of services for the Project. 

Assignments Neither party shall assign its rights, interests, or obligations under the 
Agreement without the express written consent of the other party. 

Governing Law The terms of Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state 
where the services are performed provided that nothing contained herein shall be 
interpreted in such a manner as to render it unenforceable under the laws of the state in 
which the Project resides. 

Collection Costs In the event that legal action is necessary to enforce the payment 
provisions of this Agreement if Client fails to make payment within sixty (60) days of the 
invoice date, Consultant shall be entitled to collect from the Client any judgment or 
settlement sums due, reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, and expenses incurred by 
Consultant in connection therewith and, in addition, the reasonable value of Consultant’s 
time and expenses spent in connection with such collection action, computed at 
Consultant’s prevailing fee schedule and expense policies. 

Equal Employment Opportunity Consultant will comply with federal regulations 
pertaining to Equal Employment Opportunity. Consultant is in compliance with applicable 
local, state, and federal regulations concerning minority hiring. It is Consultant’s policy to 
ensure that applicants and employees are treated equally without regard to race, creed, 
sex, color, religion, veteran status, ancestry, citizenship status, national origin, marital 
status, sexual orientation, or disability. Consultant expressly assures all employees, 
applicants for employment, and the community of its continuous commitment to equal 
opportunity and fair employment practices. 

Attorney Fees Should there be any suit or action instituted to enforce any right granted 
in this contract, the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs, 
disbursements, and reasonable attorney fees from the other party.  The party that is 
awarded a net recovery against the other party shall be deemed the substantially 
prevailing party unless such other party has previously made a bona fide offer of payment 
in settlement and the amount of recovery is the same or less than the amount offered in 
settlement.  Reasonable attorney fees may be recovered regardless of the forum in which 
the dispute is heard, including an appeal. 

Third Party Beneficiaries Nothing in this Agreement shall create a contractual 
relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third party against either the Client or 
the Consultant.  The Consultant’s services under this Agreement are being performed 
solely for the Client’s benefit, and no other entity shall have any claim against the 
Consultant because of this Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of services 
hereunder.  The Client agrees to include a provision in all contracts with contractors and 
other entities involved in this project to carry out the intent of this paragraph. 

Lien Rights Consultant may file a lien against the Client’s property in the event that the 
Client does not make payment within the time prescribed in this Agreement. The Client 
agrees that services by Consultant are considered property improvements and the Client 
waives the right to any legal defense to the contrary. 

Captions The captions herein are for convenience only and are not to be construed as 
part of this Agreement, nor shall the same be construed as defining or limiting in any way 
the scope or intent of the provisions hereof.

 



AGENDA ITEM

   
    Administration    7.D.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted By: Pam Vann, Finance Director
Department: Finance
Presented By: Pam Vann

SUBJECT:
Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the City of Sapulpa, Oklahoma, and the
Sapulpa Municipal Trust Authority amending the FY 2017-2018 annual budget by increasing
revenues by $2,146,306.00 and increasing appropriations by $1,062,421.00 in various funds for
the purpose of making adjustments based on current revenue and the amounts estimated during
the preparation of the FY 2018-2019 budget.

BACKGROUND:
In the process of preparing the FY 2018-2019 annual budget and a review of current revenues and
expenditures it was discovered that several transfers between funds and payments are based on
actual revenue received which is higher than anticipated in the original FY 2017-2018 budget
resulting in a needed increase to the corresponding transfers or payments.  Also due to changes in
insurance plans, retirement participation, utility usage, and unforeseen maintenance increases
several departments need increases in their respective budgets. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends that the Mayor and City Councilors/Chairman and Trustees adopt the
resolution.

Attachments
End-of-Year Budget Resolution 061818
End-of-Year Budget Adjustment 061818

















AGENDA ITEM

   
    Administration    7.E.        

Municipal Authority Regular
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted By: Pam Vann, Finance Director
Department: Finance
Presented By: Pam Vann

SUBJECT:
Discussion and possible action regarding a Resolution of the Sapulpa Municipal Authority,
Sapulpa, Oklahoma, amending the Sewer System Development and Extension Fee Fund FY
2017-2018 annual budget by increasing revenues and appropriations in the amount of
$7,850,000.00 to recognize loan proceeds for the purpose of constructing a sewerline extension,
making wastewater treatment plant improvements, and purchasing a pipeline television inspection
system.

BACKGROUND:
The Sapulpa Municipal Authority has approved a loan from the Oklahoma Water Resources
Board through the Clean Water State Revolving Fund in the amount of $7,850,000.00.  These
funds have been designated to construct a seweline extension on Frankhoma Road, make
necessary improvements to the wastewater treatment plant, and purchase a pipeline television
inspection system.

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of this resolution.

Attachments
Sewer System Development & Extension Fee Fund Resolution 061818
Sewer System Development & Extension Fee Fund Budget Adjustment 061818









AGENDA ITEM

   
Municipal Authority Regular 9.A.        
Meeting Date: June 18, 2018  
Submitted By: Anna Jo Fife, City Manager Assistant
Department: City Manager
Presented By: 

SUBJECT:
Status Report from Tetra Tech regarding various City and Authority projects.

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDATION:

Attachments
Status Report 06-18-18




	Agenda
	_minutes.06-04-2018 sma
	ATT_minutes.06-04-2018 sma
	Consent Agenda_AP Claims for 6_18_18
	Administration_resolution owrb loan promissory note
	ATT_Resolution
	Administration_tetra tech skiatook raw water SRWCS maintenance agmt
	ATT_Tetra Tech memo
	ATT_Joint Board - Agreement - Tetra Tech
	Administration_Frankoma sanitary sewer extension agreement tetra tech
	ATT_Agreement - Tetra Tech
	Administration_End Of Year Budget Resolution
	ATT_End-of-Year Budget Resolution 061818
	ATT_End-of-Year Budget Adjustment 061818
	Administration_Sewer System Development & Extension Fee Fund Resolution
	ATT_Sewer System Development and Extension Fee Fund Resolution 061818
	ATT_Sewer System Development and Extension Fee Fund Budget Adjustment 061818
	_Status Report 06-18-18
	ATT_Status Report 06-18-18

